IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MARY (SMITH) HOSKINS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-01369

RONALD HOSKINS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF PANOLA COUNTY STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Lower Court No. B-07-05-218-ML

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

OF COUNSEL TO APPELLANT:

Jay Westfaul, I THE WESTFAUL LAW FIRM Governor Charles C. "Cliff" Finch Building 115 Eureka Street, Suite "A" Post Office Box 977 Batesville, Mississippi 38606 Telephone: (662) 563-8482

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MARY (SMITH) HOSKINS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-01369

RONALD HOSKINS

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. THE CHANCERY COURT, ALTHOUGH DESIRING TO GRANT A DIVORCE ON THE GROUNDS SUED UPON, MISUNDERSTOOD THE LAW RELATIVE TO "CORROBORATING TESTIMONY." THE CHANCELLOR, UNDERSTANDABLY, MISTOOK A UNIFORM CHANCERY COURT RULE TO BE THE DECISIVE LAW RELATIVE TO CORROBORATING TESTIMONY IN A DIVORCE ACTION WHEN SUCH RULE DOES NOT ADEQUATELY STATE THE CURRENT STATUS OF THE LAW.
- B. THE CHANCERY COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN ITS ANALYSIS OF THE LAW RELATIVE TO "CONSTRUCTIVE DESERTION."
- C. THE CHANCERY COURT ERRED IN ITS OPINION THAT SUBSTANTIAL CORROBORATING TESTIMONY WAS NOT OFFERED BY APPELLANT.
- D. THE CHANCERY COURT APPLIED AN ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARD IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A DIVORCE ON THE GROUNDS OF HABITUAL CRUEL AND INHUMAN TREATMENT AND/OR "CONSTRUCTIVE DESERTION," WHEN, ALTHOUGH WIFE MET HER BURDEN OF PROOF, THE CHANCELLOR HELD THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO PROVIDE THE REQUISITE DEGREE OF CORROBORATING PROOF, WHEN, IN FACT, SHE HAD DONE SO TO THE GREATEST EXTENT POSSIBLE WHEN SOME SUCH PROOF WAS IMPOSSIBLE TO OBTAIN DUE TO THE NATURE OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES AND ISOLATION OF THE PARTIES.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Mary (Smith) Hoskins¹ sued for a divorce on the grounds of Habitual Cruel and Inhuman Treatment and Wilful, Continued and Obstinate Desertion for the Space of One Year. After Mary and two witnesses testified, the Chancery Court dismissed the complaint based upon understandable mistakes of law and proof. Mary, feeling aggrieved, timely perfected her appeal to the Supreme Court of Mississippi.

Mary and her husband, Ronald Hoskins², were married in Panola County, Mississippi, in 1979 (R.6). They separated on December 29, 2004, (R.6) when Ronald told Mary that he hated and despised her, threatened to kill her, and, among other things, demanded that she leave the marital residence.(TR.8-9). Unfortunately, an audience was not present when Ronald made the threat and demand. (TR.12) Ronald had moved out of the couple's bedroom and taken up separate living arrangements six to eight months prior to the separation. (TR.10).

Mary, an educated healthcare worker (TR.14), immediately sought medical treatment for elevated blood pressure, a "pounding" heart and headaches, among other things, which she attributes to Ronald's mistreatment of her (TR.14), and subsequently was forced to take an increased dosage of medication(TR.15) and prescribed medication for anxiety and depression after informing her physician "what was going on in [her] home. . .and the pressure [she] was under." (TR.21). After

¹Hereafter referred to as "Mary" for clarity.

²Hereafter referred to as "Ronald" for clarity.

moving in with her two sisters (TR.15), removing herself from the marital discord and the harsh treatment inflicted by Ronald, her medical problems abated (TR.22).

Ronald, although stating that he wanted Mary to return to the marriage after making unfounded accusations of adultery (TR.96) and "submit herself as a wife," along with a list of other unreasonable demands (TR.96-98) [Ronald's testimony], changed the locks on the marital residence (TR.39) and failed to provide Mary with a key. As a matter of fact, her key to the main door of the marital residence could not open the door when she attempted to use it during the Noon recess on the day of trial. (TR.39, 84, 90, [corroborated TR.104-105]).

A host of additional evidence proving the ground of Habitual Cruel and Inhuman Treatment was adduced and shall be discussed in the body of this Brief. Unfortunately, while the Record adequately describes Ronald's cruel acts, the learned Chancellor, who did not have the benefit of the written Record at the time of his ruling, did not take note of some of these acts (TR.120). The Chancellor, while believing that Mary had adequately proven her case (TR.122, 125), mistakenly ruled as a matter of law that he was "concerned about the <u>magnitude of necessity of a corroborating witness to prove grounds."</u> (TR.120) [Emphasis added]. The Chancellor graciously clarified his opinion regarding the ground of "constructive desertion," and applied an erroneous legal standard when he mistakenly failed to find that Ronald did not "follow up" with his alleged request that Mary resume the relationship. Mississippi Law mandates that when an offer to resume a marital relationship is communicated, it must be "followed up" with further communications to adequately convey a good faith offer upon which unreasonable restrictions are not imposed.

Given Mary's testimony, and Ronald's admission thereof, that Ronald had changed the locks on the only door to the martial residence used by the parties, Ronald's allegation that he wanted to resume the marital relationship defies the imagination. Thus, the Chancellor had adequate legal

and equitable authority to do as he thought best and grant the divorce [TR.123-125], but he felt constrained by a poorly written Uniform Chancery Court Rule to do so.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Although the Chancellor opined that the Supreme Court would reverse his granting of a divorce in the case at Bar, the appellate court would have given the Chancellor broad discretion to award a divorce in this case based upon the two grounds sued upon. *McEwen v. McEwen*, 631 So.2d 821, 823 (Miss.1994). However, the chancellor felt constrained by, and relied upon, Uniform Chancery Court Rule 8.03, which has made a transformation through the years, through no fault of his or any Court, so that it now incorrectly and incompletely states the law regarding corroboration of testimony in divorce cases. In addition, the Chancery Court misapplied the law relative to "constructive desertion," given the overwhelming weight of the evidence by the requisite standard.

Admittedly, although the evidence was sufficiently corroborated given the current state of the law, many of the cruel and inhuman acts complained of by Appellant wife were committed in private. No audience was present to witness the atrocious acts. Nevertheless, given the totality of the circumstances, and the corroborating testimony of two witnesses, the Chancellor, had it not been for mistakes of law and the Court's application of an erroneous legal standard, should have not been constrained from granting a divorce.

ARGUMENT

- I. Standard of Review. It is well settled in Mississippi Jurisprudence that the findings of a chancellor are upheld unless those findings are clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. Hill. v. Southeastern Floor Covering Co., 596 So.2d 874, 877 (Miss.1992). A finding of fact is "clearly erroneous" when, after a review of the entire record, the reviewing court is left with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made. UHS-Qualicare, Inc. v. Gulf Coast Community Hosp., Inc., 525 So.2d 746, 754 (Miss.1987). Broad discretion is afforded a Chancellor in his findings of fact given the evidence adduced as a whole. McEwen v. McEwen, 631 So.2d 821, 823 (Miss.1994).
- II. The application of an erroneous legal standard relative to "Corroborating Testimony" in a Divorce Action. In its current form, Unif.Ch.Ct.Rule 8.03 reads, "In all uncontested divorce cases, except irreconcilable differences, the testimony of the Plaintiff must be substantially corroborated." [Emphasis added.] The case at bar is contested, but much more needs to be said about the reasons for, and the evolution of, this rule.

In ancient times, verbal answers were, of course, the norm, as illiterate people appeared before the King and, later, before Chancellors. Due to the nature of verbal testimony, corroboration was necessary, and answers must have been sworn. Later, when written answers "began to be allowed in lieu of the former oral examination," a long and elaborate process of pleading developed. *Mississippi Chancery Practice*, V. A. Griffith, § 347 (1925). Mississippi later eliminated all the "antiquities of useless form in bills" (complaints), but retained many requirements regarding

"answers under oath." Id. at §§ 348, et. seq.

The rule regarding "sworn pleadings" as of 1921, is totally devoid of any mention of the necessity of "corroboration" in divorce cases. However, it appears that the rule began to evolve in 1921 with the following:

RULE XVI. All bills or petitions sent to the Chancellor to be acted on in vacation shall be verified by competent oath, or else shall be accompanied by affidavits, unless the matter is such as must be supported in any event by testimony formally taken and heard, and no decree or decretal order shall be granted on such unsworn bills or petitions unless accompanied by affidavits or evidence as aforesaid. And all such bills or petitions (except bills for injunction and petitions for writs of habeas corpus) must be filed with the clerk before being forwarded to the Chancellor, or presented to the court. And no paper will be filed by the clerk either in term time or in vacation until same be entitled and numbered.

Rules of Practice and Procedure for the Chancery Courts of the State. Revised and Promulgated by the Chancellors at Their Annual Meeting April 26th, 27th, 1921, Acting under Sec. 2, Chap. 115, Laws of 1920. (Miss.Legal Forms Ann., Ch.26, P. 312 - 316, William Eugene Morse. 1950).

The first case to be decided by the Mississippi Supreme Court on the issue of corroboration was *Anderson v. Anderson*, 190 Miss. 508, 200 So. 726 (1941). The Supreme Court could find no case which had dealt with the question, compared Mississippi's law to that of other jurisdictions, and found that "the latest tests are not in entire agreement"...but the "generally accepted view of the bench and bar" was "save in a case where, in its nature or owing to the isolation of the parties, no corroborating proof is reasonably possible"...[corroboration would be necessary] "with the exceptions" [as stated]. *Anderson*, 190 Miss. At 512. [Emphasis added].

The only statute which that Court could find relative to the issue was § 1416, Code of 1930. "This view has had a large measure of confirmation in the fact that ever since courts were given jurisdiction in this State to grant final decrees of divorce, the statutes have carried the provision that although the complainant must personally swear to the bill, it shall not be taken pro confesso.3 Id.

Following this pronouncement of the Supreme Court in 1941, a Chancery Court rule was promulgated wherein it was stated that the complainant's testimony ". . .must be substantially corroborated by other witnesses, in all cases where from the nature of the case, the allegations of the bill or petition, or the testimony of the complainant or petitioner, it shall reasonably appear that other persons know the truth about the matters in question." Rule 20, Rules of the Chancery Court, Ch.26, Mississippi Legal Forms, William E. Morse (1965) [Emphasis added].

In 1981, the Supreme Court, in a very controversial and historic decision, ordered that the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure become effective January 1, 1982, adding that any and all statutes and court rules previously adopted to the contrary notwithstanding, and in the event of a conflict between these rules and any statute or court rule previously adopted these rules shall control. [Order 1. Supreme Court of Mississippi. May 26, 1981, Emphasis added].

With the advent of the new rules came the following, "...Except when otherwise specifically provided by rule or statute, pleadings need not be verified or accompanied by affidavit. The rule in equity that the averments of an answer under oath must be overcome by the testimony of two witnesses or of one witness sustained by corroborating circumstances is abolished." Miss.Rule Civil Pro.11(a) [Emphasis added]. See also § 569, Mississippi Chancery Practice, (Judge Billy G. Bridges, et. al. (2000).

The Uniform Chancery Court Rules of 1987⁴, contained the following regarding the subject:

In all uncontested divorce cases, and all other matters ex parte, where under the practice of the court is required, the testimony of the

³Miss.Code Ann. § 93-5-7 is the statute in its modern form.

⁴The ground of irreconcilable differences, Miss.Code Ann. §93-5-2 had been enacted.

complainant or petitioner seeking relief, must be substantially corroborated by other witnesses, in all cases where from the nature of the case, the allegations of the bill or petition, or the testimony of the complainant or petitioner, it shall reasonably appear that other persons know the truth about the matters of fact in question.

Unif.Ch.Ct.Rule 3.05 (as amended through December 1, 1987) [Emphasis added].

Uniform Chancery Court Rule 8.03, in its present form of one sentence, apparently addresses uncontested cases and the issue of an irreconcilable differences divorce. *Peterson v. Peterson*, 648 So.2d 54 (Miss.1994).⁵ The important portion of the rule deriving from previous case law and the pronouncement after the struggle in *Anderson*, *supra*, allowing a Chancellor to grant a divorce without corroborating testimony in certain circumstances, has disappeared for some unknown reason.

The case law is compelling that where no corroborating evidence is available due to the nature of the case or isolation of the parties, the Chancellor is certainly allowed to grant a divorce. Brock v. Brock, 205 Miss. 66, 38 So.2d 321 (1949). Chambers v. Chambers, 213 Miss. 71, 56 So.2d 33 (1952). Heatherly v. Heatherly, 914 So.2d 754 (Miss. 2005) (citing Chambers and Anderson, Id.). Tatum v. Tatum, 247 Miss. 694, 157 So.2d 800 (1963).

Perhaps the most recent case detailing just how little corroborating evidence, if any, is necessary, is *Shavers v. Shavers*, No. 2008-MS-RO523.002, (Miss. Supreme Court, May 22, 2008. ¶¶ 35-42, *citing Chambers*, Id. and *Gardner v. Gardner*, 618 So.2d 108, 114 (Miss.1993)). In *Shavers*, the Chancellor himself did most of the questioning, and the Supreme Court of Mississippi upheld the Chancellor's awarding to the wife a divorce on the ground of Habitual Cruel and Inhuman Treatment based upon the totality of the circumstances and the sole corroborating witness: the

Reed v. Reed, 839 So.2d 565 (Miss.Ct.App. 2003), mentioned the present rule, but that case involved a single, isolated incident as a basis for divorce, and is thus distinguishable from the case at Bar.

husband. Far less evidence was adduced in *Shavers* than in the instant case. Of course, the Chancellor in the case at Bar may not have had the benefit of *Shavers*; the undersigned readily admits that this writer had not read the case prior to preparing this Brief and did not bring it to the attention of the Chancellor, as the case was relatively new on the day of trial.

III. The Chancery Court erred in not granting Mary a divorce on the ground of "Constructive Desertion," and further erred in failing to consider Ronald's testimony as substantial corroborative evidence.

Mary charged Ronald with Wilful, Continued and Obstinate Desertion for the Space of One Year under Miss.Code Ann. § 93-5-1 after Ronald, with unyielding duress, coercion and threat, forced Mary to leave the marital residence on December 29, 2004, when Ronald engaged in the following conduct:

(Mary): He threatened me. He came into the bedroom and touched my nose, and he said to me, to look at him. And he said, I'm going to kill you. No one else can live in this house – if I can't live here, no one else can live here. And he said that he would burn the house down, me in it. (TR.9 LL.5-10).

Ronald changed the locks on the doors to the marital residence. He did not provide her with a key and did not attempt any intervention when Mary went back to the residence to obtain furniture and other items. (TR.84). Ronald corroborated the fact. (TR.105). Ronald had not asked Mary to return to the marital residence from 2005 through the day of trial in 2008. (TR.94) [Corroborated by Ronald (TR.101)]. The Court took judicial notice that the parties had been separated for at least one year (TR.39,LL.16-18) and that the marriage had ceased, saying, "Obviously, it doesn't appear that y'all could get back together. . . . "(TR.125, LL.6-7).6

These facts are very similar to those contained in *Hoffman v. Hoffman*, 213 Miss. 9, 56 So.2d 58 (1952).

The Supreme Court has ruled that desertion can occur even within the same home, and has sustained divorces obtained on that ground with cases containing far less evidence than that which Ronald has caused Mary to suffer. The cause may be as complete under the same shelter as if oceans rolled between. *Graves v. Graves*, 88 Miss. 677, 41 So. 384 (1906). Here, the parties have been separated for several years. Constructive desertion is recognized in Mississippi. *Griffin v. Griffin*, 207 Miss. 500, 42 So.2d 720 (1949). *Handshoe v. Handshoe*, 560 So.2d 182 (Miss.1992). *Benson v. Benson*, 608 So.2d 709 (Miss.1992). *Lynch v. Lynch*, 616 So.2d 294 (Miss.1993).

The innocent spouse must react favorably to a good faith offer to return by the deserting party, and the deserting spouse (Ronald) must always be willing to take the innocent spouse (Mary) back. No unreasonable barrier may be erected by either party. *Rylee v. Rylee*, 142 Miss. 832, 108 So. 161 (1926). Here, Ronald placed numerous unreasonable and controlling barriers to Mary's return. (TR. 96-98 - Ronald's own testimony - and TR.55). Of major importance is the precedent that the deserting spouse (Ronald) must communicate the good faith offer and then give the other party (Mary) a reasonable time to consider the effort. The effort **must be followed up** to learn the reaction of the innocent party. *Thrasher v. Thrasher*, 229 Miss. 536, 91 So.2d 543 (1957).

None of these requirements were met. Ronald threatened to kill Mary, told her to leave, helped her leave, changed the locks on the marital home, placed unreasonable demands on her, never evidenced that he would change his ways and certainly, by his own testimony, even if one were to believe that he wanted her back, failed to "follow up" on any purported communication asking that she return, at least from a period of time from 2005 up until, and including, June 30, 2008. (TR.101). As evidenced in *Shavers*, *supra.*, and the other authorities cited, Ronald's corroboration of the events met the requirements of Unif.Ch.Ct.Rule 8.03 and all relevant case law.

IV. The Chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard, and his findings were clearly

erroneous when he ruled that, although Mary had presented sufficient evidence to obtain a divorce, that her two witnesses failed to corroborate the testimony and that while "he could give a divorce, ... the Supreme Court [would] reverse it... and [f]or that reason... [the divorce was denied]."

Mary charged Ronald with Habitual Cruel and Inhuman Treatment pursuant to Miss.Code Ann. § 93-5-1. The Chancellor's sole reason for dismissing the case was his opinion that Mary had failed to provide sufficient corroborating evidence. (TR.123-124). Of course, the manner in which Unif.Ch.Ct.Rule 8.03 has evolved into one sentence ostensibly relative to "uncontested divorces" might lead one to the same conclusion. Of course, the Chancellor could have granted a divorce which would, most likely, in the undersigned's opinion, have been upheld. In this case, Mary had two corroborating witnesses testify: her sister, Martha Bland. and her husband, Ronald. Far more evidence was adduced in this case than that required by *Rawson v. Buta*, 609 So.2d 426 (Miss.1992)⁷.

It is well settled that a divorce on the ground of Habitual Cruel and Inhuman Treatment will. be granted "when the conduct of the offending spouse endangers the life, limb or health, or create a reasonable apprehension of such danger, rendering the relationship unsafe for the party seeking relief or, in the alternative, be so unnatural and infamous as to make the marriage revolting to the unoffending spouse and render it impossible for that spouse to discharge the duties of the marriage, thus destroying the basis for its continuance." *Russell v. Russell*, 128 So. 270 (Miss. 1930). A study

In *Rawson*, the Court held that while two photographs were insufficient corroborating evidence, there may be situations where the plaintiff would be powerless to produce an overabundance of supporting or independent evidence, and in those cases, the trial court would not be powerless to grant a divorce.

of the record shows by a preponderance of the evidence that Ronald was guilty of Habitual Cruel and Inhuman Treatment, and that his acts were either corroborated, or unable, due to their very nature, to be corroborated, viz:

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