#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### MARY (SMITH) HOSKINS

APPELLANT

v.

.

DOCKET NUMBER 2008-CA-01369

SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT, PANOLA COUNTY CHANCERY CAUSE NO. B-07-05-218-ML

**RONALD HOSKINS** 

#### APPELLEE

# **BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE: RONALD HOSKINS**

Appeal from Decree of the Second Judicial District of Panola County, State of

Mississippi, Cause No. B-07-05-218-ML

Oral Argument is not requested

# JOHN S. FARESE

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

Farese, Farese & Farese, P.A. Post Office Box 98 Ashland, Mississippi 38603 Telephone: 662-224-6211 Facsimile: 662-224-6862

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

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

# **IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The findings of a chancellor will not be disturbed on review unless it is found that he abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, or made a finding which was clearly erroneous.<sup>13</sup> It appears that the Appellant wrongly believes the Chancellor based his decision in the case *sub judice* relying on Uniform Chancery Court Rule 8.03.<sup>14</sup> This despite the fact that the Chancellor never mentions Chancery Court Rule 8.03 in his ruling and the rule itself specifically refers to testimony adduced in "uncontested" divorces.<sup>15</sup> The assignment of error based on this theory fails on its face as it is a misstatement of the position of the Chancellor. To assert that his decision was made based on a reliance on Rule 8.03 is simply a misunderstanding or misinterpretation of his ruling. While Rule 8.03 may be rooted in some of the original case law from which the rule is based, the Chancellor's ruling was made in reliance with a long line of cases which addressed the need for an aggrieved party to present corroborating evidence that would convince a prudent person that the testimony of that party is true and not exaggerated for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Bank of Mississippi v. Hollingsworth, 609 So. 2d 422, 424 (Miss. 1992)
<sup>14</sup>See Appellant's Brief, Summary of Issues, Summary of Argument and Argument.
<sup>15</sup>Mississippi Uniform Chancery Court Rule 8.03.

the purpose of obtaining a divorce.<sup>16</sup>

The remainder of the basis for appeal by the Appellant appears to be based loosely on an intermingling of her position regarding corroboration and an implication that the Chancellor applied a faulty legal standard. Of course, what the faulty legal standard is, is not clearly enumerated in the Appellant's brief. Throughout her argument it appears that the Appellant misconstrued the ruling of the Chancellor. The Appellant asserts that the Chancellor ruled that she had proven her case for habitual cruel and inhumane treatment, but could not grant it because of the lack of corroboration. That is simply not what the Chancellor ruled. In explaining his ruling the Chancellor opined that Mrs. Hoskins "testified to **some** things...that given the benefit of all **inferences** would **possibly** meet the burden of proof to go forward..."<sup>17</sup> At no point did the Chancellor say that Mary Hoskins had "presented sufficient evidence to obtain a divorce."<sup>18</sup> The Chancellor did express a concern about the lack of corroboration from her witnesses in regards to both of her listed grounds, but his final ruling was based upon her failure to meet her burden of proof.<sup>19</sup>

The Appellant's brief is full of assertions that were never proven decisively at trial. Things like threats to kill and demands made by Mr. Hoskins are things that simply were not credible assertions by Mrs. Hoskins. In looking at the argument put forth it appears that this appeal is not about mistakes of law or abuse of discretion, but the fact that the Appellant cannot

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Anderson v. Anderson, 200 So.2d 726, 728 (Miss. 1941)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>T. P122, L19-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Appellant's Brief, pg.12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>T. P123-124.

fathom that the Court may not have found her side of the story to be completely credible. Her failure to provide corroborating testimony simply backed the Chancellor's position.

As mentioned previously, the findings of a Chancellor will not be disturbed on review unless it is found that he abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, or made a finding which was clearly erroneous.<sup>20</sup> The aforementioned high level of scrutiny is in place because the Chancellor is the finder of fact. The Chancellor is privy to the facts as they are presented, and not the facts as shown through the "filter" of the appellant and his counsel. The Appellant does not present a valid argument as to the Chancellor misapplying the relevant law, it is rather apparent that appellant simply did not agree with the Chancellor's interpretation of the facts and subsequent decision. The decision of the trial court must be upheld.

#### <u>V. ARGUMENT</u>

A. ISSUE 1:Did the chancellor err in his ruling as it relates to "corroborating testimony" and in doing so misinterpret and/or misapply Chancery Court Rule 8.03?

As mentioned in the summary *supra* the argument that the Chancellor misinterpreted or misapplied a Chancery Court Rule simply does not hold water. At no point did he rely on UCC Rule 8.03 in making his decision.<sup>21</sup> He never even referred to it.<sup>22</sup> The argument put forth by the Appellant on this point appears to center around dicta focusing on the evolution of a Chancery Court Rule that is simply not relevant to the case sub judice. Accordingly, it is very difficult to comprise a rebuttal to a position that is based on a supposition that the Chancellor

,

ł

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Bank of Mississippi v. Hollingsworth, 609 So. 2d 422, 424 (Miss. 1992)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>T, P120, L21-P125, L20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>T. P120, L21-P125, L20.

made a ruling relying on something, when in fact he did not. However, out of an abundance of caution the Appellee will address the role of corroboration in the case before the Court.

Obviously the the Chancellor did call into question the level of proof provided by the Plaintiff, and that his concern was exacerbated when the Appellant admittedly did not provide the necessary testimony to corroborate her account of events.<sup>23</sup> As the Appellant notes, *Anderson v. Anderson* is the original case addressing corroboration in contested matters.<sup>24</sup> Since the original ruling in *Anderson* the Court has expounded on corroboration over the years and has upheld the denying of divorces because of the lack of corroborating evidence.<sup>25</sup> The ruling throughout the years have touched on virtually every contested ground for divorce under Mississippi law, including, but not limited to, habitual cruel and inhumane treatment.

The requirement of corroborating evidence goes to the heart of the divorce statute in Mississippi. The overwhelming public interest in preserving marriage has prompted the courts to adopt a method and analysis of the grounds to result in proof that will convince a prudent person that the plaintiff's testimony is truthful and not a product of exaggeration in order to obtain a divorce.<sup>26</sup> The Court has allowed over the years for different manners of providing corroboration. Corroboration may be provided any number of ways including but not limited to, testimony of friends or family, private investigators, tape recordings, medical or mental health

ı.

Į.

<sup>24</sup>Anderson v. Anderson, 200 So.2d 726 (Miss. 1941).

<sup>25</sup>See Hassett v. Hassett, 690 So.2d 1140 (Miss.1997); Chamblee v. Chamblee, 637 So.2d 850 (Miss.1994); Gardner v. Gardner, 618 So.2d 108 (Miss.1993); Reed v. Reed, 839 So.2d 565 (Miss.Ct. App. 2003); Stennis v. Stennis, 464 So. 2d 1161 (Miss. 1985).

<sup>26</sup>Anderson v. Anderson, 200 So.2d 726, 728 (Miss. 1941).

Page 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>T. P120, L21-P125, L20.

professionals, the alleged offending spouse's testimony, or even a paramour in situations involving adultery.<sup>27</sup>

I think it is also important to note that corroboration cannot be provided by hearsay testimony. Obviously, having a witness testify to events that have only been communicated to them by the spouse seeking the divorce undermines the intended safeguard that corroboration provides. In the case presented by the Appellant, many of the allegations where only attempted to be corroborated by hearsay testimony that was properly not allowed by the Chancellor. The level of allegations levied by the Appellant are of a nature that a reasonable person would expect someone, anyone, to have some personal knowledge of these acts and their alleged effect on the Appellant. Despite attempting to show that Mr. Hoskins caused her health problems because of his actions, there were no offers of corroboration from medical providers. This is one of the most glaring areas where the position of the Appellant falls short. She continually refers to the elevated blood pressure along heart and headaches that she wants the Court to attribute them to the conduct of Ronald.<sup>28</sup> However, instead of providing medical proof to back this claim she simply laments in hindsight that the Judge did not go along with her assertions.

It is important to note that the Courts have recognized that there are situations where corroboration may have to be excused. The Courts have found that situations where corroboration was impossible because of threats or intimidation by the other party to witnesses.<sup>29</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>Hassett v. Hassett, 690 So.2d 1140 (Miss.1997); Rushing v. Rushing, 724 So.2d 911, 914-15 (Miss. 1998); Faries v. Faries, 607 So.2d 1204, 1209 (Miss. 1992); Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So.2d 921, 931 (Miss. 1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>See Appellant's Brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>Shelton v. Shelton, 477 So.2d 1357 (Miss. 1985).

Of course, excusing corroboration in those situations does not in turn lower the burden to be met by the plaintiff. Without credible corroboration, cross-examination or questioning by the Court should be of a nature as to absolutely ensure that grounds for divorce exist.<sup>30</sup> There have not been allegations by the Appellant or proof presented to lead one to believe that the case before the Court is one where corroboration, or the lack of it, should be overlooked. In fact, as noted herein the Appellant attempted to provided corroborating testimony and simply failed. After proclaiming her sister knew of conduct of Ronald along with one of their sons, neither testified to acts as severe as she wanted the Court to believe existed. Now, in hindsight, she wants it to be looked at differently and asked this court to excuse the complete lack of corroboration.

It is very important to note that even the Appellant's counsel admits during his response to the motion to dismiss that he agrees with the Chancellor in regards to the lack of credible corroboration.<sup>31</sup> His argument at that point is not that Judge Lundy was misapplying UCC Rule 8.03, but that he "pulled" the testimony as hard as he could out of her and that was all that she knew.<sup>32</sup> He the added that she was being honest based on what she knew.<sup>33</sup> That is the crux of the issue concerning corroboration in the case before the Court. The Appellant didn't claim that corroboration was impossible or not available, it simply turned out that the corroborative evidence she presented was not sufficient as to convince the Chancellor that grounds for divorce existed. In fact, during her testimony the Appellant claims that her sister witnessed the acts she

.

,

.

,

.

Ł

ì

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>Anderson v. Anderson, 200 So.2d 726, 727 (Miss. 1941).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>T. P120, L21 thru P23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>T. P121, L1-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>T. P121, L6.

complained of along with one of her sons.<sup>34</sup> Despite that assertion, she then admits to not asking the son to testify to what he supposedly saw and after the sister's testimony it was clear she only had personal knowledge of "trivial" arguments between the parties.<sup>35</sup>

It appears the Appellant simply has issue with the idea of what corroboration is and why it is important. Further, the brief submitted simply focused on the Appellant's view of the evolution, at least their view of the evolution, of a Chancery Court rule that is not relevant to the case at bar. In the end corroboration is a necessary mechanism the Chancellor uses to ensure that the testimony of the Plaintiff is not exaggerated for the purpose of getting the divorce. This ruling shows that this safeguard is functioning exactly as it is intended.

# B. Issue 2:Did the chancellor err in his analysis of the law relative to the claim of "constructive desertion"?

As with Issue 1, it appears the focus of the Appellant in regards to this issue is misguided. Throughout her brief she refers to case law that is not relevant to her claim for constructive desertion and particularly the reason her claims were denied by the Chancellor.

The Appellant's claim for a divorce based on the grounds of "constructive" desertion essentially failed before it got started when she was unable to provide evidence of conduct by Mr. Hoskins which would rise to the level required in cases of habitual cruel and inhumane treatment. Constructive desertion occurs when the spouse is driven away from the home by conduct which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>T. P87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>T. P122, L27.

makes the marriage unendurable or dangerous to life, health or safety.<sup>36</sup> Constructive desertion is granted when in lieu of remaining in the home and enduring conduct which is habitually cruel and inhumane treatment, the spouse instead leaves the marital home.<sup>37</sup> While it is not necessary to show that the offending spouse intended to drive the spouse from the home, the moving party must show that the separation was caused by the conduct of the Defendant.<sup>38</sup> Like habitual cruel and inhumane treatment constructive desertion is to only be used in "extreme cases."<sup>39</sup>

There is simply no way that the case before the Court rises to this lofty standard. First, the conduct complained of by Mrs. Hoskins is clearly not of the nature that a reasonable person would say makes the marriage unendurable or dangerous to life, health or safety. Claims of him being controlling and talking down to her, claims that were not even corroborated by other witnesses, simply do not rise to the level necessary to uphold a claim of habitual cruel and inhumane treatment or constructive desertion.

In addition, the argument for error by the Appellant in regards to this claim appears to center around case law that applies to a standard desertion claim. While terms like "follow up" that the Appellant relies on in her brief does refer to desertion claims. It can only be an issue in a constructive desertion claim if the party first meets the burden explained above. The reason for the "innocent" party leaving the marital home, must be caused by the conduct of the "offending"

<sup>39</sup>Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>Griffin v. Griffin, 42 So.2d 720 (Miss. 1949); Benson v. Benson, 608 So.2d 709, 711 (Miss. 1992); Day v. Day, 501 So.2d 353 (Miss. 1987); Shorter v. Shorter, 740 So.2d 352 (Miss. App. Ct. 1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>Shorter v. Shorter, 740 So.2d 352, 358 (Miss. App. Ct. 1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup>Griffin v. Griffin, 42 So.2d 720, 722 (Miss. 1949).

spouse. Only then should the Court consider evidence of the willingness or unwillingness of the parties to resume cohabitation. The attempt to use the *Rylee* case and analogous scenario is misguided. Making that comparison fails to acknowledge that the Court must have first found that Mary left the home because of conduct of Ronald that would meet the "unendurable or dangerous to life, health or safety" standard discussed above. It is obvious that the Chancellor never got past that original prong that must be met in a constructive desertion case. Mary never proved that the conduct of Ronald rose to the level that her abandoning the marital home could have been blamed on conduct of that nature.

However, despite the fact that the trial court never made a finding that Mary met her burden of proof as it relates to her leaving the marital home the court still addressed Ronald's willingness to take Mary back and resume the marital relationship. The Chancellor noted in his opinion that the evidence showed Ronald was willing to take her back and there was not proof otherwise.<sup>40</sup> The Chancellor also noted that he believed that Mary never attempted to re-enter the home after she chose to leave.<sup>41</sup> Even if the Chancellor had found the evidence to have met the first prong he addressed how it failed to meet the second.

When you consider the proof presented and read the decision of the Court it is clear the Chancellor did not make a mistake of law or of the proof as alleged. He clearly listened to the testimony and was able to consider the credibility of what was presented. In the end he properly found that Mary Hoskins clearly failed to meet the burden required in a case of constructive desertion. The Appellee would go further to say that to grant a divorce on constructive desertion

-1

L

<sup>41</sup>T. P124.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>T. P124.

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